UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CATHERINA LORENA CENZON-DECARLO, Civil Case No:
Plaintiff,

V.
VERIFIED COMPLAINT
THE MOUNT SINAI HOSPITAL, a New York Not-for-
Profit Corporation,
Jury Trial Demanded
Defendant.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This action seeks injunctive and declaratory retiaef behalf of CATHERINA
LORENA CENZON-DECARLO (herein “MRS. DECARLQ”), a iee who in May 2009 was
forced by Defendant THE MOUNT SINAI HOSPITAL (“Mousinai”), to assist in the abortion
of a 22-week-old preborn child despite her longdiag religious objection to participating in
lethal abortions. Mount Sinai blatantly violatestéral law by threatening Mrs. DeCarlo’s job
and nursing license unless she would assist itatketerm abortion. Then when Mrs. DeCarlo
tried to use appropriate channels to seek to haweigihts of conscience respected, Mount Sinai
condoned the compulsion it had exerted against Me€arlo in May, declared that she could
again be subject to such a mandate at Mount Siadfgrary discretion, and even resorted to
retaliation and brash bullying tactics to get MdeCarlo to abandon her rights.

2. Mrs. DeCarlo asks the Court to order Mount Sinardfrain from mandating
employees to assist in abortion over their consicies objection. Pursuant to the Church

Amendment, 42 U.S.C. § 300a7(c), which protects rifpht of conscience of pro-life health care



workers employed by recipients of federal Healtd &uman Services funding, Mrs. DeCarlo
also seeks an order requiring Mount Sinai to diggan appropriate portion of the millions of
dollars in federal funding it has received in thstlseveral years, and ordering that the hospital
be disqualified from receiving additional fundingless and until it demonstrates compliance
with the Church Amendment.

3. Mrs. DeCarlo also seeks compensatory and punitianages for the
psychological and other harms that she incurrechfleeing forced to assist in the 22-week
abortion on May 24, and for future financial harfrean the retaliatory actions that Mount Sinai
is taking against her by depriving her of the &pito work on-call shifts solely because of her
religious objection to assisting in abortion.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4, Jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant tiblef28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 42
U.S.C. 8§ 300a7(c) as an action arising under ths taf the United States.

5. This Court has authority to declare the rights kgl relations of the parties and
to order further relief, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8P2-02, because this is a case of actual
controversy within this Court's jurisdiction.

6. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and {dount Sinai owns and
operates a hospital in Queens, New York, called M&inai Hospital at Queens, located at 2510
30th Avenue, Astoria, New York 11162This subjects Mount Sinai to personal jurisdictin
the Eastern District of New York, making venue mopm this district.

PARTIES

! Website, available at http://www.mshq.org/Who%20We%2Moeht%20Sinai%20Queens%20History (last
visited on July 10. 2009).



7. Plaintiff Catherina Lorena Cenzon-DeCarlo is a redtperson who at all times
relevant to this action has resided in BrooklynwN\éork, and has been employed by Mount
Sinai Hospital.

8. Mrs. DeCarlo is a citizen of the Philippines. Sies been a permanent legal
resident of the United States since 2001 and igiethto an American citizen, Paul DeCarlo,
also of Brooklyn.

9. Defendant The Mount Sinai Hospital is a not-forffiraorporation organized
under the laws of the State of New York, and isated at One Gustave L. Levy Place, New
York, New York, 10029 and at 2510 30th Avenue, AstdNew York 11102.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

10. Catherina Cenzon DeCarlo has devoted her caradetprofession of operating
room nursing.

11. She chose nursing over more lucrative careers bBeaafuher passion for helping
patients and the fulfilment she receives from 8% in a wide variety of specialized
procedures with excellence and professionalism.

12.  Mrs. DeCarlo is a practicing member of the Romath@a Church. Her uncle is
a bishop of that Church in the Philippines, and whse raised in a very devout Catholic family
that was immersed in the religious culture of r@mnmunity.

13.  She has a strongly-held religious and moral béfiat she may not participate in
abortion procedures that kill preborn children.

14.  Mrs. DeCarlo received her initial training and esi@ece in nursing in her home

country of the Philippines.



15. Mrs. DeCarlo graduated with a Bachelor of Scienegree in nursing from St.
Louis University in Baguio City, Philippines, in 99. She passed the Philippine Board to
become a Registered Nurse, she was certified byCthramission on Graduates of Foreign
Nursing Schools, and she passed the TOEFL and k8f<sin English language proficiency.
Mrs. DeCarlo as issued a visa screen certificate.

16.  Mrs. DeCarlo served for one year in the Philipgisional Red Cross working in
several areas including rescue and first aid tnginiThen she worked for one year as a volunteer
nurse in the medical unit of Baguio General Hos$pitel Medical Center.

17. In 1997 Mrs. DeCarlo switched fields and began waykas a pharmaceutical
representative, though she continued volunteering aurse during that time. Despite making
more money than she had as a nurse, she missagwheds and challenges of her nursing
career.

18.  Therefore Mrs. DeCarlo returned to nursing fulld¢inin 1998 she began as a staff
nurse at The Medical City, a major hospital in Malgiong City, Philippines, near Manila.

19. While at The Medical City, she worked as an opagatbom, labor and delivery,
and recovery room nurse. She also specialized ignelg transplants, ophthalmic,
ear/nose/throat, plastic and vascular surgeries.

20. During her time at Medical City, Mrs. DeCarlo treadtmany patients with
pregnancy complications, including many with preegbsia. She gained extensive experience
in managing such patients with the goal of presgrthe life of both the woman and her unborn
child. She gained knowledge of the pathologies ¢ha arise in such patients and how to treat

them. She saw that as long as they were propeshjitored and medicated, patients could be



successfully managed to a stage of pregnancy wherehild could be delivered alive with a
good chance of survival.

21.  While at Medical City Mrs. DeCarlo spoke with catgies who had trained and
worked in the United States. She learned that Araeoffered experienced nurses such as
herself tremendous opportunities to work on chagjileg and interesting cases, and to have the
freedom to excel in their professions if they watkerd and continued to improve their skills.

22. Inspired by these stories, Mrs. DeCarlo moved tovNé&ork in 2001 to work
under an alien worker immigrant visa.

23.  Mrs. DeCarlo initially held staff nursing jobs atehabilitation facility and then at
an acute care teaching hospital in Far Rockawayy Merk. At the latter, she served in the
endoscopy, ambulatory surgery and medical-surgici$ and assisted in many surgical cases as
well as providing total nursing care of patients.

24. In 2003 Mrs. DeCarlo was hired as an operating raoch endoscopy staff nurse
at a community teaching hospital in Far RockawagwNrork. She assumed circulating and
scrub nurse responsibilities and covered many calrgcases in an environment where
comprehensive knowledge and practice of nursingriégs were promoted.

25.  In July 2004, Mrs. DeCarlo met Paul DeCarlo of Bdga, and they married in
2005.

26. At the time of this lawsuit Mr. and Mrs. DeCarlovieaa one-year-old child.

27. The DeCarlos are dependent on both Mr. and Mrs.dlle@ salaries, including
the many on-call shifts that Mrs. DeCarlo worksteamnth at Mount Sinai.

28. In August 2004, Mrs. DeCarlo was hired as an opegatoom nurse at The

Mount Sinai Hospital.



29. Mrs. DeCarlo wanted to work at Mount Sinai becanfstiheir expertise in various
and complicated surgeries, including liver transfdaand neurosurgery.

30. At Mount Sinai, Mrs. DeCarlo has received exemplagyformance reviews.

31. She has also earned the respect and professiqmaicagtion of her superiors and
of the doctors on whose cases she has worked.

32. Mrs. DeCarlo is recognized at Mount Sinai as hawangigh level of expertise
among her operating room nurse peers, being expedeand highly competent in neurosurgery,
gynecology, urology, orthopedics, ophthalmologyd diver transplants, as well as general
surgery, vascular, otolaryngology, gastrointestioahl surgery, respiratory surgery, and plastic
surgery.

33.  During her job interview with Mount Sinai in 200Mount Sinai officials asked
Mrs. DeCarlo about her willingness to assist inribos.

34. Mrs. DeCarlo communicated that because of herioceiggviews she objected to
assisting in any abortion of children still livindpough she did not have an objection to assisting
with the removal of babies who had miscarried.

35. The Mount Sinai officials who hired Mrs. DeCarlopegssed no concerns with
her objection to assisting in abortion.

36.  When Mrs. DeCarlo was hired in 2004 and continuimgugh the present, Mount
Sinai Hospital has had a written policy by whichrépresents to employees that they may,
without penalty, object to assisting in abortiomsigtent with patient rights, care and treatment.
That policy, Human Resources Policy—Exclusion frBatient Care—Employee Rights #15.3,

is attached as Exhibit A.



37.  As part of her application process, Mrs. DeCailledi out a form given to her by
Mount Sinai, which explicitly gave her the oppoityrio object to participation in abortion.

38.  Consistent with her statements during her job vmers, Mrs. DeCarlo filled out
the sections of that form expressing her objedigparticipation in abortion.

39. Neither her oral nor her written objection to pagdation in abortion was an
obstacle to Mrs. DeCarlo being hired in August 2004

40. In addition to working full-time work weeks at MauSinai, Mrs. DeCarlo often
worked on-call shifts on weekends and holidays.

41. On-call shifts are a benefit and privilege of enyphent for qualified nursing
employees at Mount Sinai such as Mrs. DeCarlo.

42.  Qualified employees are allowed to volunteer fasth on-call shifts, but if there
are not enough volunteers, Mount Sinai will asggimployees to the shifts on a mandatory basis.

43.  Mount Sinai required Mrs. DeCarlo to be willing teork on-call shifts as a
condition of employment.

44. Employees on the on-call shifts earn a fractionheir regular hourly rate when
not called, and an increased hourly rate when déineycalled.

45.  The on-call shifts are separated into three teamsrding to employee expertise.

46. “Team 1” handles surgeries of a basic expertisel lfar operating room nurses at
Mount Sinai, and its scope includes general surgexscular, otolaryngology, G.l., oral surgery,
respiratory surgery, and plastic surgery.

47. “Team 2" handles complex and specialized surgeii@duding neurosurgery,
gynecology, urology, orthopedics, and ophthalmology

48. A third team handles liver transplants, also a igfieed procedure.



49. Despite these team designations, nurses who velufdeand are serving on one
team may be assigned by Mount Sinai to handle gesyiencompassed by another team if other
nurses are unavailable and if the nurse has thasitgjcompetence for the procedure.

50. Mrs. DeCarlo is experienced and competent in tihgesies of all three teams.

51. Mrs. DeCarlo is so proficient in Team 2 surgeriest tMt. Sinai has asked her on
many occasions to take Team 2 calls when otheesurave chosen not to take them.

52.  Mrs. DeCarlo has always performed her on-call dutigth the utmost level of
expertise and professionalism.

53. In a typical month, Mrs. DeCarlo has taken 8-9 alt-shifts of various kinds,
tending to focus on Team 2 surgeries.

54. Mount Sinai also performs abortions, which are galhescheduled for Saturday
mornings.

55.  Many abortions that occur at Mount Sinai outsideSafturday mornings are
dilation and curettage (D&C) first-trimester aborts.

56. D&C is also used in cases where preborn childrere maiscarried, in order to
remove the baby and other uterine contents fromvtiraan.

57. In a dilation and evacuation (D&E) abortion, thethe’s cervix is dilated, and
after sufficient dilation the mother is placed undeesthesia or sedation. The doctor then inserts
grasping forceps through the mother’s cervix and the uterus. The doctor grips a part of the
preborn child with the forceps and pulls it backotigh the cervix and vagina even after meeting
resistance from the cervix. That friction caudes preborn child to tear apart. The process of
evacuating the preborn child piece by piece coesnuntil the child has been completely

removed.



58. Even though gynecology is a Team 2 category, D&@ B&E abortions are
sufficiently simple that operating room nurses wjualify for Team 1 are technically competent
to participate in those procedures.

59. Mrs. DeCarlo has handled and is willing to partatgin D&C miscarriage cases,
but not in D&C or other abortion cases where thecedure intentionally kills the child, such as
D&E abortions.

60. Mount Sinai has known Mrs. DeCarlo’s views on hellingness to assist in
abortion since it hired her.

61. Mount Sinai has a group of nurses who are willingarticipate in abortions and
regularly do so when asked.

62. From August 2004 to mid-May 2009, there were somes when Mount Sinai
specifically avoided assigning Mrs. DeCarlo to dioor cases by means of choosing not to call
Mrs. DeCarlo to those cases in the first place.

63. In at least one instance between August 2004 toMag 2009, when Mrs.
DeCarlo was called to work on an abortion case,. leCarlo clarified that she only handles
miscarriage cases, and Mount Sinai arranged fahanaurse to take the case.

64. Upon information and belief, from August 2004 todaMlay 2009 Mount Sinai
sometimes violated the right of conscience of otheses by forcing them to assist in abortions
to which they expressed a religious or moral olpect

65. On Sunday, May 24, 2009, Mrs. DeCarlo was workingall on Team 2.

66. Her shift began at 7:00 a.m.



67. Team 1 and 2 on-call nurses have the option ofgoeih campus if they can
arrive at the hospital within 30 minutes of thel @ald be scrubbed within 5 minutes of arrival.
Alternatively, the nurses can stay in the on-aatim at Mount Sinai during their shift.

68. Mrs. DeCarlo always stays in the on-call room fer bn-call shifts, and that is
where she was at 7:00 am on May 24th.

69. Earlier in the morning of May 24th, Dr. Michael &ifstein, Assistant Clinical
Professor at the medical school that is part of M&inai, had scheduled a woman via telephone
through the OR receptionist for a 20-week age sfag®n abortion (that later was revealed to be
a 22-week age of gestation abortion) to occurr@ining.

70.  The abortion would be done by D&E on a prebornachilll alive.

71. At 7:15 am, Mrs. DeCarlo walked to the receptioristsee if she had been
assigned to any surgeries.

72.  The receptionist told her she was assigned to aCD&ase.

73.  Neither the receptionist (according to what he tdics. DeCarlo later) nor Mrs.
DeCarlo knew that she was being assigned to a deciomester abortion on a live child.

74. Mrs. DeCarlo immediately went to the assigned syrgmom and began
preparing the room. The patient was not yet ptesen

75.  While she was in the room, the case cart arriveth wistruments that Mrs.
DeCarlo recognized as being possibly used for nmtarriage abortions.

76.  She then examined the paperwork for the case nloselg. The case form that
Mrs. DeCarlo saw had virtually illegible handwrijin

77. Mrs. DeCarlo began to wonder whether the abortias an a live child, and what

the patient’s diagnosis was.
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78. At 7:30 am, Mrs. DeCarlo called the resident assigto the case, Dr. Noel
Strong.

79.  She asked Dr. Strong about the case. Dr. Stropigieed to her that the woman
was diagnosed with preeclampsia, and that the pnetfold in the case was still alive.

80. Mrs. DeCarlo then knew that she had been assignadcase where a living 22-
week-old preborn child would be dismembered anedkil

81. Mrs. DeCarlo also knew from experience that thehmohad a diagnosis that she
had personally treated in many women without aredrte kill the child.

82. At 7:30 am, Mrs. DeCarlo, consistent with her prioritten objection to
participating in abortion, unequivocally expressedr. Strong that she would not participate in
the abortion.

83.  Mrs. DeCarlo told Dr. Strong not to send the cgséouthe room until a nurse was
assigned who would handle the case.

84. Mrs. DeCarlo then immediately called her nursingesuisor, Ms. Fran Carpo,
and expressed her objection to participating ig tlaise.

85. Mrs. DeCarlo reminded Ms. Carpo that her religiobgection was known, was
longstanding, and that she had not previously be®ed to assist in an abortion

86. Ms. Carpo said she would call her supervisor, M&a Bhapiro, to ask whether
Mrs. DeCarlo could be excused from the case.

87. Ms. Carpo said that in the meantime Mrs. DeCarlauihcall the receptionist to
begin gathering contact information for other naraéio could cover this case. Mrs. DeCarlo

did so.
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88. In a few minutes Ms. Carpo called Mrs. DeCarlo backl told her that Mrs.
DeCarlo must assist in the 22-week D&E abortion.

89. Mrs. DeCarlo repeated her longstanding objectioth pleaded with Ms. Carpo
that Mount Sinai not force her to assist in thieréibn against her strongly held religious beliefs.

90. Mrs. DeCarlo asked Ms. Carpo to call other nursethé¢ case since so little time
had elapsed before Mrs. DeCarlo had voiced herctbje

91. Ms. Carpo said that Ms. Shapiro had insisted that BeCarlo assist on the case,
and had prohibited Ms. Carpo from even trying tib ather nurses to cover the case.

92. Ms. Carpo also said that Dr. Silverstein had yeléddher over the phone in
opposition to any delay in the case as a reswrsf DeCarlo’s request for accommodation.

93. Ms. Carpo claimed that the mother could die if MdeCarlo did not assist in the
abortion.

94. Mrs. DeCarlo explained to Ms. Carpo that the patieould not be in such
immediate danger because based on what Dr. Sidwersad told Ms. Carpo over the phone, the
patient was not even on magnesium therapy, which nsedical requirement for preeclamptic
patients in crisis. But Ms. Carpo rejected thiguanent.

95. Neither Mount Sinai, nor the patient’s care, wobll/e been prejudiced in any
way if Mount Sinai had called another nurse to tdiecase when Mrs. DeCarlo expressed her
specific objection 15 minutes after she was catlbetthe case.

96. Ms. Carpo herself was qualified to perform thisecherself and could have done
so without any significant delay in the case.

97. Ms. Carpo said that if Mrs. DeCarlo did not pagate in the case, Mrs. DeCarlo

would be brought up on charges of “insubordinatiad patient abandonment.”
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98. A charge of patient abandonment would severely getipe Mrs. DeCarlo’s
employment and her nursing license and consequérttycareer and her and her family’s
livelihood.

99. A charge of insubordination would severely jeopaediMrs. DeCarlo’s
employment and her future employability.

100. Mrs. DeCarlo began to cry and said she would ewtrihgr priest on the phone to
explain that she could not assist in the killingadt2-week-old child, and pleaded for this reason
to be excused from the case.

101. Despite all of Mrs. DeCarlo’s urgings, Ms. Carpasigted that Mrs. DeCarlo
participate in the abortion case.

102. Mrs. DeCarlo was distraught and devastated bechrse DeCarlo and her
family could not afford for her to lose her joblar nursing license.

103. Mrs. DeCarlo therefore stated that she was accettinlyls. Carpo’s dictate,
though in protest.

104. Mrs. DeCarlo returned to the surgery room and iegsher pre-surgery duties.

105. She treated the patient with utmost respect ani@gsmnalism.

106. She made sure that the patient had no knowledgéheof opposition to
participating.

107. Nevertheless, the scrub technician and the anéskbgist on the case expressed
surprise to see Mrs. DeCarlo assisting.

108. Mrs. DeCarlo explained to them, outside of the guats presence, that she was
being forced to participate under protest, but stz would maintain excellent care for the

patient.
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109. The scrub technician and anesthesiologist expreseetplete sympathy with
Mrs. DeCarlo.

110. By being forced to participate in the abortion, Mbo&inai forced Mrs. DeCarlo
to witness the killing of a 22-week-old prebornldhy dismemberment.

111. Because it was included in the requirements ofrtuesing duties as an assistant
on the case, Mount Sinai forced Mrs. DeCarlo tocivahe doctor remove the bloody arms and
legs of the child from its mother’s body with fopse

112. Because it was included in the requirements ofrluesing duties as an assistant
on the case, Mount Sinai forced Mrs. DeCarlo tawike bloody body parts of the 22-week-old
preborn child in the specimen cup, to put salintécup, and to take it to the specimen area.

113. Mount Sinai's protocols contain several categooésurgeries to identify their
urgency and priority, including various levels afi@rgencies. Exhibit B.

114. Surgeries placed in Category | involve “Patientquieng immediate surgical
intervention for life or limb threatening condit®i 1d.

115. None of the Mount Sinai officials or doctors onsttabortion case labeled it a
surgery requiring immediate surgical interventionlffe or limb threatening conditions.

116. Instead Dr. Silverstein labeled the abortion a @ate I, which applies to
“Patients requiring surgery within 6 hours of idéoation and notification.” I d.

117. The Category Il designation of this abortion shakat the patient did not require
Mrs. DeCarlo’s immediate surgical intervention asice.

118. At 7:30 a.m. when Mrs. DeCarlo was ordered to agsithis abortion, there was

plenty of time to find a nurse to assist the surgen within the specifications of Category Il.
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119. This abortion did not even rise to the level ofat&gory Il surgery that had to be
done within 6 hours.

120. Likewise, there was no need to perform actionsiwigiix hours that intentionally
killed the child such as a D&E abortion.

121. The patient could have been maintained in stabheidon until Mount Sinai
assigned a nurse other than Mrs. DeCarlo to thewhs would be willing to assist the abortion.

122. Mrs. DeCarlo observed no indications that this aborwas a medical emergency
requiring her assistance.

123. For example, when the patient was brought intortiwen for surgery, her blood
pressure was not at a crisis value, and other stdndeasures for patients in crisis had not been
taken on this patient.

124. Preeclamptic patients can be kept stable untit iatgoregnancy when labor can
be induced or a c-section performed so that the chdelivered intact, is not directly killed, and
has a chance to survive.

125. Mount Sinai violated HR/ER # 15.3 when Ms. Carpal &ts. Shapiro ordered
Mrs. DeCarlo to assist in this abortion.

126. Being forced to assist in this abortion has caudéd. DeCarlo extreme
emotional, psychological, and spiritual suffering.

127. Mrs. DeCarlo has experienced nightmares about remildn distress, has lost
sleep, and has suffered in her personal and rabgrelationships because of being forced to
assist in this abortion.

128. Mrs. DeCarlo has had to receive treatment from dwgending physician to

address her psychological symptoms. He prescrietication to help her sleep.
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129. On the next business day after the abortion, MesC&lo brought complaints to
her supervisors and her union about having be@edoto assist in an abortion.

130. Based on being forced to assist in this abortiors.MeCarlo caused a grievance
to be filed with her union and supervisors for &t@n of the collective bargaining agreement
between Mount Sinai and the New York State Nurseso&iation.

131. In informal conversations with Mrs. DeCarlo and amirepresentatives, Mount
Sinai officials stated that employees must be mgllto assist in abortions in circumstances that
Mount Sinai determines, including the circumstartbes Mrs. DeCarlo suffered on May 24th.

132. Abortion cases such as the one that occurred on2M#ycan arise during on-call
shifts or during the work week.

133. Consequently, whether or not Mrs. DeCarlo is aggigto further on-call duty,
she reasonably fears that she could again be ctadgelparticipate in an abortion.

134. After having filed her grievance, Mrs. DeCarlo vaieered as usual to be
assigned to on-call cases for the next month nosgfeeduled, August 2009.

135. On July 1, 2009, the on-call schedule for Auguss Virmalized.

136. Mrs. DeCarlo was given only one on-call shift ingust 2009, on one liver team
shift.

137. Although Mount Sinai officials initially claimed #t the failure to assign Mrs.
DeCarlo to her usual 8-9 shifts in August was nyemehdvertent, the hospital’'s subsequent
actions indicate that it intends to retaliate agaMrs. DeCarlo because of her request that her
religious objection to assisting in abortion be dvad, and because of the grievance procedure

that she filed.
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138. On July 9, 2009, Mrs. DeCarlo’s union represen&atirystal Shipp called her
and informed her that Mount Sinai wanted to meeTbuarsday, July 16, at noon, to discuss the
grievance and whether Mrs. DeCarlo may object $tsting in abortion.

139. On July 16, Mrs. DeCarlo and her attorney Josepia Rtesented themselves at
the meeting location.

140. Ms. Shipp and another representative of the unien IMcille Sollazzo informed
Mrs. DeCarlo that neither the union nor Mount Swauld conduct the meeting if Mr. Ruta was
present.

141. Nothing in the bargaining agreement prevents MrtaRtom being present at
such a meeting.

142. Because Mr. Ruta was present, Mount Sinai andtiie@nwcancelled the meeting.

143. This violated the union agreement, which entitles.NDeCarlo to an opportunity
to resolve the grievance process through such éingee

144. Just a few hours later on July 16, Mrs. DeCarlo s@®ered in the hospital by
Beata Mastalerz, her clinical manager. Ms. Mastabsked Mrs. DeCarlo to come into her
office.

145. Ms. Mastalerz told Mrs. DeCarlo that Mrs. DeCarloégjuest to be assigned to
on-call shifts in September would be conditionedruprs. DeCarlo being willing to write and
sign a statement promising that she was willingassist in D&C and D&E abortions if the
hospital declared that such cases were “emergémeigsiring her assistance.

146. This requirement violates 42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(c).

147. Mrs. DeCarlo refused to sign such a statementngayiat she had already signed

a notice that she objects to assisting in abogimsuant to written hospital policy.
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148. Ms. Fran Carpo then came into the room and atteirtpteonvince Mrs. DeCarlo
to write and sign such a statement. Ms. Carpoamasof the Mount Sinai officials who was to
be at the cancelled meeting earlier that day.

149. Mrs. DeCarlo began to cry and continued to reftedeng Ms. Mastalerz and Ms.
Carpo that she had always opposed assisting abdrom the day she was hired, and that other
nurses also oppose assisting abortion but they wetebeing required to sign statements
agreeing to assist abortions as a condition tlest lie assigned to on-call shifts.

150. On information and belief, Mount Sinai has not ire@d against any other nurse
the requirement that they fill out a specific watitexpression of willingness to assist in some
abortions as a condition of being assigned to dinshdts.

151. Mrs. DeCarlo asked to leave the room to composselfdbut Ms. Mastalerz and
Ms. Carpo refused, insisting that she sit down @nttinuing to try to convince her to sign away
her objection to abortion.

152. As Mrs. DeCarlo became more distraught she wadlfimdle to convince Ms.
Mastalerz and Ms. Carpo to allow her to leave tmpose herself.

153. By imposing this condition, Mount Sinai condonedl atquiesced in the illegal
compulsion it had applied to Mrs. DeCarlo on May, a4d it imposed a policy by which it
assumed the ability to compel health care persamss$tance in abortion at its discretion.

154. Mrs. DeCarlo will suffer financial damage from bgideprived of the income of
working on-call shifts.

155. Mount Sinai receives millions of dollars of fedefahding administered by the

United States Department of Health and Human Ses\WitHHS”).
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156. In the past several years, Mount Sinai has receavgehnt, contract, loan, or loan
guarantee under the Public Health Service Act [42.0. § 201 et seq.], the Community Mental
Health Centers Act [42 U.S.C. § 2689 et seq.], @antlle Developmental Disabilities Services
and Facilities Construction Act [42 U.S.C. § 6008e&x.].

157. In the past several years, Mount Sinai has recewegrant or contract for
biomedical or behavioral research under a progmirastered by HHS.

158. Funds in the above-mentioned categories includdgulescribed as follows:.

* The most recent report from HHS shows that MounaiSieceived over $211 million in
federal discretionary grant dollairs fiscal year 2007 alone, ranking it 29th in the nation
among grant recipients. Exhibit"CUpon information and belief, Mount Sinai receiees
similar amounts of funding every year, includingd8@nd 2009.

* Mount Sinai regularly receives family planning grdonds as a delegate and clinic
recoghized by HHS's Office of Population AffairsExhibit D at 62 Those funds
originate in subchapter VIII of the Public Healter@ces Act, 42 U.S.C. § 300-300a-8.

* Mount Sinai received over $175,000 in 2007 and 2@0§rants for HIV-related dental
health services. Exhibit EThose funds are managed by HHS'’s Health Resouames
Services Administration and they originate from chdpter XXIV of the Public Health
Services Act, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 300ff-300ff-121.

* Mount Sinai participates in grant awards undertithes of the Center for Achieving and
Sustaining Improved Health in Harlem, and Collabiors for Health Improvement in
East Harlem—Project Heed. Exhibit’FThe grant program started in 2002 but has
continued through 2009 and has totaled over $14iomil The grants are awarded
through the National Institutes of Health’'s Natibi@enter on Minority Health and
Health Disparities, and are authorized by subchalpteof the Public Health Services
Act, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 241, 285, & 287c-31—c-33.

e Mount Sinai received a $333,902 grant in late 2fa@xonstruction and renovation of its

2 Exhibit C was obtained from
http:/taggs.hhs.gov/AnnualReport/FY2007/documents/TAGXBS87_Annual_Report.doc (last viewed July 17,
2009).

3 Exhibit D was obtained from http://www.hhs.gov/opa/fgmianning/grantees/services/ and
http://www.hhs.gov/opa/familyplanning/grantees/servicdstidcs_regii.pdf (last viewed July 17, 2009).

* Exhibit E was obtained from http://hab.hrsa.gov/prograentallist.htm (identifying Mount Sinai),
http://hab.hrsa.gov/treatmentmodernization/dentalrosters2@fv (award amount), and
http://hab.hrsa.gov/treatmentmodernization/dentalrosters28084008 award amount) (last viewed July 17, 2009).
® Exhibit F was obtained through conducting a search at/titggs.hhs.gov (last viewed July 17, 2009)
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branch hospital in Queens, New York. See Exhibit Ghe grant was received through
HHS’s Health Resources and Services Administrasiod was funded through various
subchapters of the Public Health Services Act. 9&:Stat. 2809, 3122-23 (2005).

159. By accepting the funds referred to above and déderal funding, Mount Sinai
has voluntarily subjected itself to the Church Aheent, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 300a-7(c).

160. That section of the Church Amendment provides hsviss:

(c) Discrimination prohibition

(1) No entity which receives a grant, contract,nloar loan guarantee
under the Public Health Service Act [42 U.S.C. 8l 2& seq.], the
Community Mental Health Centers Act [42 U.S.C. 82@&t seq.], or the
Developmental Disabilities Services and Faciliti@snstruction Act [42
U.S.C. 8§ 6000 et seq.] after June 18, 1973, may--

(A) discriminate in the employment, promotion, ermination of
employment of any physician or other health carsg®el, or

(B) discriminate in the extension of staff or otlpeivileges to any
physician or other health care personnel,

because he performed or assisted in the performafca lawful
sterilization procedure or abortion, because haseaf to perform or assist
in the performance of such a procedure or abodiothe grounds that his
performance or assistance in the performance opribeedure or abortion
would be contrary to his religious beliefs or marahvictions, or because
of his religious beliefs or moral convictions resjieg sterilization
procedures or abortions.

(2) No entity which receives after July 12, 1974grant or contract for
biomedical or behavioral research under any proggdministered by the
Secretary of Health and Human Services may--

(A) discriminate in the employment, promotion, errhination of
employment of any physician or other health carsgnel, or

(B) discriminate in the extension of staff or otlpeivileges to any
physician or other health care personnel,

because he performed or assisted in the performainaey lawful health
service or research activity, because he refus@etimrm or assist in the

® Exhibit G was obtained through conducting a search at/tagys.hhs.gov (last viewed July 17, 2009)
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performance of any such service or activity on greunds that his

performance or assistance in the performance df secvice or activity

would be contrary to his religious beliefs or marahvictions, or because
of his religious beliefs or moral convictions resfieg any such service or
activity.

161. There is no “medical necessity” exception to sectiw) of the Church
Amendment.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION:

VIOLATION OF THE CHURCH AMENDMENT
42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(c)

162. The allegations of the paragraphs above are readdegre.

163. By threatening insubordination and patient abandanagainst Mrs. DeCarlo
unless she assisted in the abortion on May 24, ,.20@2nt Sinai committed discrimination in
the employment, promotion, or termination of emphent of health care personnel, and
discrimination in the extension of staff or otheivipeges to health care personnel in violation of
42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(c).

164. By adopting a position that refuses to honor MreCBrlo’s objection and the
objections of other health care personnel to atmastin the future, but instead requires that they
be willing to assist in abortions as Mount Sinatides is necessary in its own discretion despite
the health care personnel’s religious objectionsuM Sinai continues to commit discrimination
in the employment, promotion, or termination of éoyment of health care personnel, and
discrimination in the extension of staff or otheivipeges to health care personnel in violation of
42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(c).

165. By conditioning Mrs. DeCarlo’s ability to work oralt shifts on the requirement
that she promise that she is willing to assist Woraons, Mount Sinai is committing

discrimination in the employment, promotion, ornt@ration of employment of health care
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personnel, and discrimination in the extensiontaff ®r other privileges to health care personnel
in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(c), and is distnatorily retaliating against her on the basis
of her religious objection and her attempts to gebthat objection in the bargaining agreement
grievance procedure and by obtaining counsel.

166. Mount Sinai Hospital is liable for the discriminagoactions of Mrs. DeCarlo’s
superiors because they were following Mount Singiddicy and practice that it may violate
employee conscience rights if Mount Sinai officibédieved it was required for patient care.

167. Mount Sinai Hospital is liable for the discriminagoactions of Mrs. DeCarlo’s
superiors because it acquiesced and subsequentlpiced those actions.

168. Mount Sinai Hospital is liable for the discriminagoactions of Mrs. DeCarlo’s
superiors under the doctrine of respondeat supdrearause those superiors were acting in the
scope of their authority from Mount Sinai to altlee terms and conditions of her employment on
condition that she succumb to a violation of hersmeentious objection rights.

169. Mount Sinai Hospital is liable for discriminatiogainst Mrs. DeCarlo by means
of its current position that it has discretion tmlate Mrs. DeCarlo’s and other health care
personnel’s conscientious objection to abortiothefuture.

170. Mrs. DeCarlo has suffered and continues to suffeotenal and psychological
damages from the harm caused to her by Mount Sidatrimination.

171. Mrs. DeCarlo will suffer financial damages from MuuSinai’'s discriminatory
and retaliatory removal of her from on-call shitis the condition that she sign away her
religious objection to assisting in abortions.

172. Mrs. DeCarlo and other similarly situated pro-ieployees continue to suffer

irreparable harm by Mount Sinai’s policy that eny@e conscience rights may be violated and
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their work privileges be removed on condition oflswiolations, thereby giving rise to the need
for injunctive relief against Mount Sinai.

WHEREFORE, Mrs. DeCarlo respectfully seeks judgment agathst Mount Sinai
Defendants as follows:

A. A declaratory judgment finding that Mount Sinai lggal has violated and
continues to violate the Church Amendment, 42 U.8.800a7(c), and Mrs. DeCarlo’s rights
thereunder,

B. An injunction:

1. Ordering Defendants to comply with 42 U.S.C. § 3q0nby refraining from
forcing Mrs. DeCarlo or any health care personogdrticipate in abortion;

2. Ordering Defendants to restore Mrs. DeCarlo toaest level of access to on-
call teams and to honor her conscientious objec¢tgrarticipation in abortion
on those teams;

3. Ordering Defendants to disgorge the funds discussd@ U.S.C. § 300a7(c)
as triggering that section’s applicability, in anppeopriate amount
commensurate with Defendants’ discriminatory ation be determined at
the Court’'s discretion and as a penalty for Defatslaviolation of Mrs.
DeCarlo’s rights; and

4. Prohibiting Defendants from receiving qualifyingnfis under 42 U.S.C.
§ 300a7(c) unless and until Defendants demonstatgliance with the non-
discrimination provisions of that section in poleed practice.

C. Damages, in an amount to be determined at trialalfcharms that Mrs. DeCarlo

has suffered and will suffer because of Mount Sénablation of her rights under
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42 1UL.S.C. §300a7(c), as well as punitive damages for Mount Sinai’s blatant
violation of employee rights under 42 U.S.C. § 300a7(c),
D. An award of reasonable attorneys” fees disbursed and incurred in this action;

L. Any other and further relief as this Court would deem necessary and proper.

Plaintiff requests a jury trial on all claims so triable.

DATED: July 21, 2009,

New York, New York.

Respectfully submitted,

(A A & SOULIOS LLP

00 Broadway - 21st FL.
New York, NY 10036
(212) 997-4500
Jjruta@rutasoulios.com

Piero A. Tozzi

53 Franklin Avenue

New Hyde Park, NY 11040
(917) 642-8429
tozzi824@aol.com

Steven H. Aden*

Matthew 5. Bowman#*
ALLIANCE DEFENSE FUND
801 G Street NW, Suite 509
Washington, DC 20001
(202) 637-4610
saden{atellad(.org
mbowman@telladf.org

*Pro hac vice applications pending.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on July 21, 2009, the foregoing document was filed with the Clerk of
the Court and served in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and/or the Eastern

District’s Local Rules, and/or the Eastern District’s Rules on Flectronic Service upon the

following partics and participants:

The Mount Sinai Hospital
One Gustav L. Levy Place
New York, NY 10029

Service on this party was accomplished by means of service on the corporate party’s agent the

New York Secretary of state at the following address:

Department of State

One Commerce Plaza

99 Washington Avenue, 6th Floor
Albany, NY 12231

1500 Broadway — 21* Floor
New York, NY 10036
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VERIFICATION

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, |, Catherina {.orena Cenzon-DeCarlo, declare the

following:
I am the named plaintiff in the above mentioned case. 1 have read the foregoing Verified

Complaint and state under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct to the best of

my knowledge.

th
Dated this /7 " day of July, 2009

—~ G Loy AN

Catherina Lorena Cenzok-PeCarlo






